#### The next frontier for climate action: Decarbonizing urban freight in Canada Author(s): Maddy Ewing, Carolyn Kim, Janelle Lee and Cedric Smith Pembina Institute (2020)

Stable URL: http://www.jstor.com/stable/resrep22105

JSTOR is a not-for-profit service that helps scholars, researchers, and students discover, use, and build upon a wide range of content in a trusted digital archive. We use information technology and tools to increase productivity and facilitate new forms of scholarship. For more information about JSTOR, please contact support@jstor.org.

Your use of the JSTOR archive indicates your acceptance of the Terms & Conditions of Use, available at https://about.jstor.org/terms



*Pembina Institute* is collaborating with JSTOR to digitize, preserve and extend access to this content.



# The next frontier for climate action

### Decarbonizing urban freight in Canada

Maddy Ewing, Carolyn Kim, Janelle Lee, Cedric Smith February 2020



All use subject to https://about.jstor.org/terms

#### The next frontier for climate action Decarbonizing urban freight in Canada

All photos by Roberta Franchuk, Pembina Institute, unless otherwise indicated.

©2020 The Pembina Institute

All rights reserved. Permission is granted to reproduce all or part of this publication for non-commercial purposes, as long as you cite the source.

Recommended citation: Maddy Ewing, Carolyn Kim, Janelle Lee, Cedric Smith. *The next frontier for climate action: Decarbonizing urban freight in Canada,* The Pembina Institute, 2020.

Additional copies of this publication may be downloaded from the Pembina Institute website, www.pembina.org.

#### About the Pembina Institute

The Pembina Institute is a national non-partisan think tank that advocates for strong, effective policies to support Canada's clean energy transition. We employ multi-faceted and highly collaborative approaches to change. Producing credible, evidence-based research and analysis, we consult directly with organizations to design and implement clean energy solutions, and convene diverse sets of stakeholders to identify and move toward common solutions.



#### Contents

The next frontier for climate action
Businesses, municipalities act on climate5
Vancouver
Calgary
Edmonton
Greater Toronto and Hamilton Area
Ottawa
Montreal
Halifax
Benefits of better urban freight management
Key challenges to improving goods movement in cities
Urban freight solutions
Alternative delivery modes
Alternative delivery models and technologies
Recommendations

### The next frontier for climate action Decarbonizing urban freight in Canada

The world is at a climate tipping point. Over 470 municipalities across Canada have declared a climate emergency, while Canada is committing to net-zero emissions by mid-century — the action needed to avoid the worst effects of climate change. For Canada to bend its emissions curve, transportation has to be tackled.

The transportation sector represents nearly one quarter of the country's greenhouse gas (GHG) emissions, second only to the oil and gas sector (Figure 1). Of this, freight sources make up almost half of the transportation emissions.

This isn't just a highway or rural problem. In major cities across Canada, we're seeing these trends continue — transportation contributes a notable share of GHG emissions (Figure 2). While transportation emissions come from both passenger and goods movement (freight) vehicles, historically the most focus has been on mitigating emissions from passenger vehicles. However, reducing the environmental impact of freight activity is increasingly important — by 2030, it is expected that freight emissions will surpass passenger vehicle emissions in Canada.<sup>1</sup> Freight activity has implications for the livability of Canadian cities. As urbanization, online shopping, and the demand for same-day and home deliveries increases, it is expected that more freight vehicles will be on our roads, contributing not only to emissions but also to traffic congestion, noise and air pollution, and greater competition for curbside space. Some research suggests that although e-commerce generates more delivery truck trips, there is an overall decrease in vehicle kilometres travelled and fuel consumption due to a substantial reduction in personal shopping trips.<sup>2</sup> However, other research shows that any GHG emissions reductions from fewer personal shopping trips are cancelled out when other online shopping factors are considered, including how often consumers opt for fast delivery, take complementary trips to a physical store to return delivered items, or make single-item purchases online, resulting in more individual deliveries by truck.<sup>3,4</sup>



Data sources: Environment and Climate Change Canada; Natural Resources Canada<sup>5,6</sup>





#### Urban freight across Canada

Figure 2: Transportation emissions as share of total GHG emissions in

(based on the most recent reliable data for each city) Data sources: See specific city sections, pages 7-12.

selected cities

Urban freight, by its very name, may seem like a city problem. In this report, we highlight ways in which businesses and municipalities across Canada are individually seeking to address growing urban freight issues through alternative delivery modes, models and technologies. While the impacts of increased urban freight may be most felt at the city level, in the air we breathe and congestion we endure, the issue is national in scope for a number of reasons. However, the current ad hoc city-by-city approach to solving the urban freight problem means that municipal bureaucrats and politicians are reinventing the wheel, so to speak, all across Canada. By coming together and sharing learnings, cities can move forward faster on solving this growing problem in concert with business and other levels of government, saving much sought-after municipal resources at the same time.

Businesses stand to gain substantially from a national approach, particularly those that have multi-province and/or national operations. Businesses need solutions that can be scaled up economically across the country. Like any other clean economy policy, the business community needs clarity and consistency to achieve efficiencies and economies of scale.

#### Policy recommendations

From a policy perspective, policies ladder up to the provincial level and beyond. Federal politicians are aware that freight is a national issue from an environmental and economic perspective. In the most recent federal election, all of Canada's major political parties recognized the contribution of freight to Canada's total greenhouse gas emissions and promised to act to reduce emissions from this sector. Furthermore, the federal government plays an important role funding low-carbon infrastructure across Canada, including infrastructure that will have direct impact on municipalities' ability to deliver on urban freight and other related solutions. Transport Canada, in particular, has an interest in making sure Canada's cities are safe and competitive, that goods are able to move quickly and efficiently as an important contributor to Canada's national economy.

Consistent, coherent and co-ordinated policy approaches make sense for all parties involved, and will benefit the majority of Canadians who live in these urban centres.

To that end, Pembina Institute recommends:

- A national dialogue on urban freight to improve the environment and livability of cities across Canada
- Modernized goods distribution in urban centres, developed by combination of policy makers, industry, private sector and the public
- Goods movement strategies that are integrated with existing climate, land use, road safety and transportation strategies with which they are inherently interconnected
- Nationally consistent municipal-level freight data collection programs that inform effective goods movement strategies that can be scaled up across Canada.

<sup>4</sup> The next frontier for climate action: Urban freight in Canada

### Businesses, municipalities act on climate

Many leading companies have recognized their role in transitioning towards a low-carbon economy and are adopting emissions reductions targets.

For example, Amazon has recently committed to net-zero carbon emissions by 2040.7 Meanwhile, Etsy is offsetting 100% of the carbon emissions stemming from its deliveries and has also committed to powering its operations exclusively with renewable electricity by 2020.<sup>8</sup> Many other companies are interested in exploring how to integrate new technologies and delivery practices such as electric vehicles, electricassist and pedal-only cargo bikes, off-peak deliveries, and alternative consolidation and pick-up points in dense urban centres (e.g: transit stations, mixed-use buildings, mobile containers stationed in public spaces) as opportunities to improve urban freight activity. For example, Mississauga-based Purolator is investing \$1 billion over five years to build a shipping hub in Toronto and upgrade its fleet to include fully electric vehicles.<sup>9</sup>

### Increase in amount of freight delivered to major Canadian cities:

# 26% between 2011 and 2016<sup>10</sup>

There are also opportunities to deploy emerging technologies such as autonomous vehicles and drones for goods movement in certain circumstances. Questions remain for both industry and government on how these different technologies can and should be used, scaled up, and regulated to ensure safe and efficient goods movement systems.

Canada's largest municipalities are planning and exploring new ways to manage growing demands to move goods and people in their cities and regions. At the same time, municipalities are advancing other initiatives that must be co-ordinated with goods movement, such as land use and road safety

#### Last-mile deliveries

The "last mile" of urban goods movement refers to the delivery of goods from some type of consolidation centre (e.g., a warehouse, distribution centre, or microhub) to its final destination (e.g., a retail store or customer's home). Businesses spend approximately 28% of their total costs on conducting last-mile deliveries due to increasing traffic congestion, a lack of loading zones, and other inefficiencies.<sup>11,12</sup>

strategies, and ambitious climate plans. For example, Metro Vancouver's regional goods movement strategy includes a call to support quieter, cleaner and lowercarbon goods movement by adopting low- and zero-emission vehicles, as well as cargo bicycles for last-mile applications, and to integrate goods movement considerations into community planning and development.<sup>13</sup> Calgary's Goods Movement Strategy identifies seven actions to enhance last-mile deliveries, such as promoting off-street delivery facilities in new or reconstructed non-residential developments and partnering with the private sector to pilot new delivery solutions.<sup>14</sup> The City of Edmonton is updating its city

Increase in the average number of online purchases made by Canadians: 58% between 2016 and 2018<sup>15</sup>

plan to support a low-carbon transportation system. This includes encouraging solutions such as cargo cycles and microhub lockers to mitigate urban freight emissions.<sup>16</sup> Meanwhile, the City of Toronto is currently

<sup>5</sup> The next frontier for climate action: Urban freight in Canada

implementing its curbside management strategy<sup>17</sup> and its road safety plan Vision Zero<sup>18</sup> alongside the city's climate action strategy, TransformTO.<sup>19</sup> Ottawa has highlighted the need to consider freight in road planning, design and construction in its transportation master plan. In Montreal, a one-year pilot project was launched in the Ville-Marie borough to test electric cargo bikes for last-mile deliveries. A former bus station in Montreal is being used as a transhipment point for delivery trucks to unload and transfer packages onto cargo bikes.<sup>20</sup> Halifax's Integrated Mobility Plan recognizes the implications of urban delivery trips on congestion, noise pollution, and emissions. The plan calls for a review of Halifax's truck route by-law to better serve truck demands and land use, as well as incorporating trucks into complete streets projects when they occur on designated truck routes.<sup>21</sup>

Generally, cities are developing strategies to electrify cars and trucks, implementing new tactics to manage growing curbside demand from commercial delivery vehicles, partnering with businesses to test new Freight shipments in major Canadian urban centers that begin and end within the same metropolitan area:<sup>22</sup>

29-62%

delivery technologies and practices, and investigating best practices from around the world to manage goods movement. A notable number of freight trips in major Canadian urban centres are intra-municipal, meaning that goods are sent to a destination in the same metropolitan area from which the freight trip originated. In other words, freight activity within cities, not just between cities, is important. All sectors must work together to facilitate safe, efficient, and low-carbon goods movement across Canada.



All use subject to https://about.jstor.org/terms

6 The next frontier for climate action: Urban freight in Canada This content downloaded from 78.182.141.255 on Wed, 26 Mar 2025 08:21:47 UTC



#### Vancouver

#### Freight activity over time



### Figure 3. Value and destination of freight carried by for-hire trucks in the Vancouver CMA

Data source: Statistics Canada<sup>23,24</sup>

#### **Freight policies**

Metro Vancouver is already tackling freight emissions through its regional goods movement strategy, which includes a call to support quieter, cleaner and lower-carbon goods movement by adopting low- and zero-emission vehicles, as well as cargo bicycles for last-mile applications. It also looks to integrate goods movement considerations into community planning and development.<sup>25</sup>

### Population and employment projections

#### Data is for Metro Vancouver<sup>26</sup>

Population	
Baseline (2015)	2,494,000
Projection (2040)	3,400,000
Projected increase	36%

Employment	
Baseline (2015)	1,278,000 jobs
Projection (2040)	1,800,000 jobs
Projected increase	41%

#### Greenhouse gas (GHG) emissions

Data is for Metro Vancouver<sup>27</sup>

GHG emissions (2017)	
Total GHG emissions	data not available
GHG emissions from transportation	6.5 Mt CO <sub>2</sub> e
Percent of total emissions from transportation	45%
Per capita transportation emissions	2.6 t CO <sub>2</sub> e per person



#### Calgary

#### Freight activity over time



### Figure 4. Value and destination of freight carried by for-hire trucks in the Calgary CMA

Data source: Statistics Canada<sup>28,29</sup>

#### **Freight policies**

Calgary's Goods Movement Strategy identifies actions to enhance last-mile deliveries, such as promoting off-street delivery facilities in new or reconstructed non-residential developments and partnering with the private sector to pilot new delivery solutions.<sup>30</sup>

### Population and employment projections

#### Data is for the City of Calgary<sup>31,32</sup>

Population	
Baseline (2014)	1,195,200
Projection (2024)	1,380,400
Projected increase	15%

Employment	
Baseline (2014)	857,100 jobs
Projection (2040)	1,000,700 jobs
Projected increase	17%

#### Greenhouse gas (GHG) emissions

Data is for the City of Calgary<sup>33,34</sup>

GHG emissions (2017)	
Total GHG emissions	18.8 Mt CO <sub>2</sub> e
GHG emissions from transportation	6.3 Mt CO <sub>2</sub> e
Percent of total emissions from transportation	33%
Per capita transportation emissions	5.0 t CO₂e per person



#### Edmonton

#### Freight activity over time



### Figure 5. Value and destination of freight carried by for-hire trucks in the Edmonton CMA

Data source: Statistics Canada<sup>35,36</sup>

#### **Freight policies**

The City of Edmonton is updating its city plan to support a low-carbon transportation system. This includes encouraging solutions such as cargo cycles and microhub lockers to mitigate urban freight emissions.<sup>37</sup>

### Population and employment projections

#### Data is for the City of Edmonton<sup>38</sup>

Population	
Baseline (2014)	877,900
Projection (2044)	1,470,800
Projected increase	68%

Employment	
Baseline (2014)	564,098 jobs
Projection (2044)	909,065 jobs
Projected increase	61%

#### Greenhouse gas (GHG) emissions

Data is for the City of Edmonton<sup>39,40</sup>

GHG emissions (2018)	
Total GHG emissions	18.7 Mt CO <sub>2</sub> e
GHG emissions from transportation	5.8 Mt CO <sub>2</sub> e
Percent of total emissions from transportation	31%
Per capita transportation emissions	6.2 t CO₂e per person



#### **Greater Toronto and Hamilton Area**

#### Freight activity over time



Figure 6. Value and destination of freight carried by for-hire trucks in the Toronto CMA + Hamilton CMA Data source: Statistics Canada<sup>41,42</sup>

#### **Freight policies**

The GTHA is integrating goods movement into its city plans in a variety of ways. The City of Toronto is currently implementing its curbside management strategy<sup>43</sup> and its road safety plan Vision Zero,<sup>44</sup> alongside its climate action strategy, TransformTO.<sup>45</sup> The City of Hamilton is reviewing its Goods Movement Study, recognizing the importance of emerging trends and technologies in goods movement, such as deliveries made by alternative modes of travel.<sup>46</sup>

### Population and employment projections

Data is for the GTHA47

Population	
Baseline (2011)	6.8 million
Projection (2041)	10.1 million
Projected increase	49%

Employment	
Baseline (2011)	3.3 million jobs
Projection (2041)	4.8 million jobs
Projected increase	45%

#### Greenhouse gas (GHG) emissions

Data is for the GTHA48

GHG emissions (2017)	
Total GHG emissions	49.2 Mt CO <sub>2</sub> e
GHG emissions from transportation	16.6 Mt CO <sub>2</sub> e
Percent of total emissions from transportation	34%
Per capita transportation emissions	2.3 t CO₂e per person



#### Ottawa

#### Freight activity over time

No data was available for freight activity at this time.

#### **Freight policies**

Ottawa has highlighted the need to consider freight in road planning, design and construction in their transportation master plan. The city will consider the inclusion of features such as on-street loading areas in future road design.<sup>49</sup> Additionally, the City of Ottawa has committed to monitoring and consulting with the freight industry to support knowledge and innovation for both the city and the industry's mutual benefit.

A study with goods movement stakeholders in Ottawa acknowledged that the greatest challenges associated with goods movement in the city arise within the last mile.<sup>50</sup> The same study identified the importance of managing the movement of goods across bicycle lanes and considering the implementation of off-peak deliveries. The same group of stakeholders agreed that cargo bikes represent an important opportunity for the City of Ottawa.

### Population and employment projections

#### Data is for the City of Ottawa<sup>51</sup>

Population	
Baseline (2014)	946,344
Projection (2036)	1,213,553
Projected increase	28%

Employment	
Baseline (2016)	514,787 jobs
Projection (2036)	618,915 jobs
Projected increase	20%

#### Greenhouse gas (GHG) emissions

Data is for the City of Ottawa<sup>52,53</sup>

GHG emissions (2017)	
Total GHG emissions	6.2 Mt CO <sub>2</sub> e
GHG emissions from transportation	2.6 Mt CO <sub>2</sub> e
Percent of total emissions from transportation	44%
Per capita transportation emissions	2.9 t CO <sub>2</sub> e per person



#### Montreal

#### Freight activity over time



### Figure 7. Value and destination of freight carried by for-hire trucks in the Montreal CMA

Data source: Statistics Canada<sup>54,55</sup>

#### **Freight policies**

The City of Montreal is already tackling freight emissions. A one-year pilot project was launched in the Ville-Marie borough to test electric cargo bikes for last-mile deliveries. A former bus station is being used as a transhipment point for delivery trucks to unload and transfer packages onto cargo bikes.<sup>56</sup>

### Population and employment projections

Data is for the Montreal Agglomeration<sup>57</sup>

Population	
Baseline (2015)	1,999,800
Projection (2036)	2,240,000
Projected increase	12%

Data is for the Montreal CMA58,59

Employment	
Baseline (2017)	2,184,100 jobs
Projection (2036)	2,739,700 jobs
Projected increase	25%

#### Greenhouse gas (GHG) emissions

Data is for the Montreal Agglomeration<sup>60</sup>

GHG emissions (2015)	
Total GHG emissions	11.1 Mt CO <sub>2</sub> e
GHG emissions from transportation	4.5 Mt CO <sub>2</sub> e
Percent of total emissions from transportation	40%
Per capita transportation emissions	2.3 t CO₂e per person



#### Halifax

#### Freight activity over time



### Figure 8. Value and destination of freight carried by for-hire trucks in the Halifax CMA

Data source: Statistics Canada<sup>61,62</sup>

### Population and employment projections

Data is for the Halifax Regional Municipality<sup>64</sup>

Population	
Baseline (2011)	390,328
Projection (2031)	482,625
Projected increase	24%

Employment	
Baseline (2011)	231,320 jobs
Projection (2031)	273,070 jobs
Projected increase	18%

#### Greenhouse gas (GHG) emissions

No recent data was available for emissions at this time.

#### **Freight policies**

Halifax's Integrated Mobility Plan recognizes the implications of urban delivery trips on congestion, noise pollution, and emissions. The plan calls for a review of Halifax's Truck Route By-Law to better serve truck demands and land use, as well as incorporating trucks into complete streets projects when they occur on designated truck routes.<sup>63</sup>

### Benefits of better urban freight management

Well-managed goods movement systems support livable, efficient cities by helping relieve congestion, which in turn alleviates noise, air, and carbon pollution.

#### Costs of congestion

Traffic congestion plagues Canadian cities. Nearly one third of North America's 15 most congested cities are in Canada, having an impact on businesses and families alike.<sup>65</sup> The more goods are stuck in traffic en route to their final destinations, the more it costs businesses, and in turn, consumers. Transport Canada estimates the annual cost of recurrent congestion in our major cities, including Quebec City, Montreal, Ottawa-Gatineau, Toronto, Hamilton, Winnipeg, Calgary, Edmonton and Vancouver, at \$2.3 to \$3.7 billion.<sup>66</sup>

Congestion is problematic for businesses' delivery operations due to trip delays and increased fuel and vehicle operating costs.<sup>67</sup> More time stuck in traffic paired with limitations on driver working hours can also result in increased labour costs per shipment.<sup>68</sup>

Existing congestion is being exacerbated by growing populations and the associated growth in demand for goods movement. The World Economic Forum estimates that by 2030, the top 100 cities globally will require a 36% increase in the total number of delivery vehicles leading to an estimated 21% increase in congestion<sup>69</sup> —equivalent to an additional 6 Mt of CO<sub>2</sub> emissions by 2030.



#### Curbside competition



As transportation patterns and travel behaviours change, many major urban centres are experiencing increased competition for the curbside. More trucks require loading areas to make deliveries in dense residential and commercial neighbourhoods as online shopping and the demand for fast and flexible delivery increases. Delivery vehicles require curbside space, defined as the access point between the road and the sidewalk, to either park or make a temporary stop when making deliveries. To access this space, delivery vehicles compete with other curbside users, including ride-hailing vehicles, wheel-trans services, emergency vehicles, garbage trucks, transit buses, and cyclists.<sup>70</sup>

Due to the high demand for limited curbside space, especially in dense commercial and residential areas, it is not uncommon for delivery vehicles to circle (or "cruise") around a delivery zone in an attempt to find a designated place to load or unload deliveries. This contributes to overall congestion: Anywhere from 8% to 74% of traffic in major cities has been attributed to cruising activity.<sup>71</sup> This is costly for businesses as it increases delivery times and fuel costs, which also increases GHG emissions and air pollution in cities. Moreover, a lack of dedicated curbside space can force delivery operators to double-park or make other illegal stops that can result in hefty parking infraction fines and impede the right of way for other road users. Solutions to curbside competition do exist, especially in better managing freight parking and loading. Examples include dynamic parking pricing and delivery vehicle staging zones for loading.

#### Road safety

As population grows, our roads are getting busier. There are more pedestrians, cyclists, transit vehicles, delivery trucks, ride hailing vehicles, and other users competing for road space. When we better manage goods movement, we improve the safety of our streets. Improving the safety of goods movement in Canadian cities will be critical as many municipalities aim to achieve Vision Zero — a term commonly used to reference a strategy to eliminate all traffic-related fatalities and severe injuries. A recent City of Toronto study found that trucks are disproportionately involved in collisions resulting in fatalities and serious injuries to pedestrians (including cyclists).<sup>72</sup> Since 2005, 20%



of cyclist deaths in Montreal have been attributed to collisions with trucks.<sup>73</sup> However, other jurisdictions have seen progress, including Vancouver which has seen a 28% reduction in vehicle collision fatalities involving heavy vehicles between 2005 and 2014.<sup>74</sup> As more people travel by bike in Canadian cities and as freight activity increases, it will be important to understand the risk factors related to truck-cyclist interactions, and use those learnings to improve our transportation system to prevent traffic injuries and fatalities.

#### Just-in-time delivery trends

Goods distribution is becoming increasingly fast-paced and reactive. More and more, retailers and consumers are operating using a just-in-time philosophy, meaning goods aren't ordered or received until absolutely necessary. In online shopping, expectations for fast shipping shifted from three or four days in 2015 to just two days in 2016.75 Businesses aren't hesitating to meet or even exceed these expectations: Standard shipping speed for purchases on Amazon Prime recently dropped down to one day,<sup>76</sup> and within three weeks of Amazon's announcement, Walmart announced its plans for next-day delivery.<sup>77</sup> A just-in-time philosophy has impacts on shipment consolidation. Items may be stored in warehouses or retail stores at separate locations making it difficult to ship multiple items in the same package under time constraints.<sup>78</sup> Thus, individual items from multi-item shopping baskets may be shipped separately. This results in a reduced number of consolidated deliveries and potentially increases the number of delivery vehicles on the road, with resulting impacts on cities.

#### Air pollution

Heavy-duty trucks are a leading source of criteria air contaminants that can contribute to the formation of smog and localized air pollution that can be harmful to human health.<sup>79</sup> A recent study conducted by the Southern Ontario Centre for Atmospheric Aerosol Research (SOCAAR) highlighted the disproportionately large impact of heavy trucks on local air pollution.<sup>80</sup> The study found that concentrations of air pollutant emissions depend more on the proportion of large trucks on the road than the total traffic volume. While the goods movement sector is an important component of the Canadian economy, growing freight activities have major implications on both climate change and the quality of life of Canadians, if they are not adequately managed and planned for.

## Key challenges to improving goods movement in cities

Although innovation in technology and delivery operations have and will continue to improve freight activity in Canadian cities, several challenges remain:

#### Data governance and availability

Freight data in Canada is limited especially compared to the amount of data collected for passenger travel. Many businesses in the freight sector collect their own data to better manage and optimize their delivery operations; however, this data is rarely made public or available to transportation and city planners since it is often sensitive and competitive information. A lack of data makes it difficult to understand and plan for the realities of freight activity in Canadian cities.

### Rapidly evolving consumer preferences

Consumers' desires are constantly changing, and they are increasingly demanding more of retail and delivery businesses. For businesses to remain competitive in today's market, they must offer deliveries that are fast, free, flexible, while being environmentally conscious. Given the pace at which consumers' preferences change, it can be difficult to plan a goods movement system that keeps up with customer demands.

#### Inconsistent regulatory approaches to govern new delivery practices and technologies for commercial use

Regulations around off-peak deliveries, e-assisted cargo bikes, drones, autonomous vehicles, and other delivery technologies are still uncertain, making it difficult for businesses to test and scale up new delivery modes. In particular, questions remain for both industry and government on how these different technologies should be regulated to ensure they contribute to safe transportation and goods movement systems.

### Technological readiness and supporting infrastructure

While electric delivery vehicles are starting to be introduced, they are not ready to be deployed at a large scale any time soon. Nor is all the infrastructure (e.g: charging stations) in place to support such technologies; more public and private investment is needed. Although some freight technologies will be ready in time, we must also be prepared with solutions in the near term, recognizing the realities of business operations today.



### **Urban freight solutions**

A variety of innovative solutions, including new delivery technologies and changes to logistics and supply chain operations, are being tested and adopted in cities across Canada.

#### Alternative delivery modes

For businesses, the optimal size and composition of a delivery fleet depends on several factors such as the volume of goods to be delivered, the service area of a consolidation or distribution centre, and the number and geographic distribution of delivery locations. Different transportation modes can serve different delivery needs and improve delivery operations. Supportive infrastructure and policies are also needed to encourage the uptake and success of alternative delivery modes.

#### **Electric vehicles**

Major delivery and e-commerce companies have announced electric vehicle purchases for their delivery fleets.<sup>81</sup> Last year, Amazon announced it would purchase 100,000 electric delivery vans. More recently, UPS revealed plans to buy at least 10,000 batterypowered delivery trucks over the next five years.<sup>82</sup> Some cities are implementing low emission zones (LEZ) to restrict the use of certain polluting vehicles in specific parts of a city.<sup>83</sup> In London, England, trucks are subject to a high fee for operating within LEZs if they do not meet the city's particulate matter emissions standard. An ultra-low emission zone (ULEZ) was also recently implemented in central London where a congestion charge is also in effect.<sup>84</sup>

#### Cargo cycles

Cargo cycles are bicycles, tricycles, or other multiwheeled cycles that are equipped with a cargo unit to store and move goods or people (e.g: children). They are often equipped with an e-assist function to help the cyclist carry and move heavier loads with ease. Many businesses in Europe — and now also in a few North American markets, including Canada — have integrated microhubs and cyclelogistics into their goods movement practices to increase efficiency, reduce



operational costs, and mitigate adverse impacts on cities. In doing so, some businesses have demonstrated significant reductions in last-mile vehicle kilometres travelled and "empty" truck distances, thereby lowering transportation-related emissions and air pollution.<sup>85</sup> In Canada, one barrier to testing and deploying cargo cycles at scale is unclear and inconsistent regulations across municipalities, especially regarding their commercial use.

#### **Drones**

More recently, some businesses are looking to drones for last-mile delivery operations. Part of the appeal to companies is that drones could significantly reduce labour costs. A study in the European Union suggests that 7% of EU citizens could have access to drone delivery services under scenarios that are considered the most technologically realistic. This share reaches 30% in scenarios where technological improvements are made.<sup>86</sup> In Canada, companies like Drone Delivery Canada are working to develop commercially viable drone delivery systems.

#### Alternative delivery models and technologies

As more consumers engage in e-commerce and expect deliveries to be made directly and quickly to their homes or offices, businesses are rethinking their logistics and supply chain operations.

#### **Off-peak deliveries**

Performing deliveries during off-peak daytime hours or switching to night-time deliveries can improve freight efficiency. Off-peak hours are generally less congested, and thus, vehicles spend less time on the road burning fuel. The Region of Peel recently completed an off-peak delivery pilot project with participants including Loblaws, Walmart, and the LCBO.<sup>87</sup> Preliminary results suggest that travel times were approximately 15% lower during off-peak hours. Additionally, it's estimated that GHG emissions and other air pollutant emissions including CO, NO<sub>x</sub>, PM<sub>10</sub> and PM<sub>2.5</sub> were each reduced by over 10% when deliveries were performed outside of peak hours. While the notion of off-peak deliveries often raises concerns about noise, not a single noise complaint was made during the period of study.

#### **Right-size delivery solutions**

A crucial step in maximizing capacity utilization is ensuring that vehicles are the appropriate size for the task at hand. For instance, cargo cycles can be used to deliver small volumes of parcels in congested urban centres in order to avoid congestion and contribute less to air pollution. However, right-sizing solutions is much easier for freight companies with large fleets.



Some small for-hire carriers, for instance, may not have a choice between different vehicle sizes. For these carriers, right-sizing delivery solutions may mean ensuring that a sufficient number of less-than-load shipments are combined.

#### **Parcel lockers**

These are small storage units that are located close to the final delivery point in urban or rural areas, and which can be conveniently accessed by customers. They are often located in retail banking locations, grocery stores, transit stations, or condominium lobbies.



Parcel lockers are often branded and operated by a single carrier; however, a pilot project in the Seattle Municipal Tower in Seattle, Washington, demonstrates many benefits to a "common carrier locker system" (i.e. lockers can be used by any retailer, carrier, or goods purchaser and can be placed on public land). The pilot project reduced total delivery time in the building by 78% compared to regular floor-to-floor, door-to-door delivery throughout the tower.<sup>88</sup> Furthermore, there were zero failed deliveries using the common carrier locker system.

#### Microhubs

These are logistics facilities for micro-consolidation, which is the bundling of goods at a location near the final delivery point (e.g. within 1 to 5 km from the final destination).<sup>89,90</sup> In other words, microhubs provide an additional transhipment point in the supply chain that is located in the heart of an urban area.<sup>91</sup> They allow for a mode shift in last-mile deliveries (typically to more nimble, clean vehicles such as cargo cycles and electric light-duty vehicles). Other terms are also used to describe different types of micro-consolidation operations and the facilities where micro-consolidation occurs, including micro-consolidation centres, vehicle reception points, goods reception points, and mobile depots. Microhubs are different than urban consolidation centres, which are logistics facilities that are typically located just outside a city's border or in a city's suburbs where goods coming from outside of the city can be consolidated before being delivered within the city.<sup>92</sup> In many cases, one consolidation centre can serve an entire urban area.<sup>93</sup>

### Software, analytics and artificial intelligence

Leveraging innovations in software, analytics and artificial intelligence (AI) can lead to improvements in urban freight efficiency. Improved data and analytics can allow companies to improve their operations by, for instance, identifying opportunities to improve fuel consumption and reduce GHG emissions. Geotab's vehicle tracking devices have allowed fleets to do just this,<sup>94</sup> as well as identify opportunities for electrification by analyzing a fleet's operational data, such as maximum range and dwell time.<sup>95</sup> Fleet Optics use data and analytics to optimize delivery routing and drive down costs for last-mile delivery fleets.<sup>96</sup> Meanwhile, Uber has developed new software that leverages artificial intelligence to more easily connect carriers with shippers through their platform Uber Freight.<sup>97</sup> Ultimately, improvements in software, analytics and artificial intelligence enable better understanding of the urban freight landscape, identify possible areas of improvements, and facilitate the implementation of these improvements.



### Recommendations

As freight activity becomes increasingly prevalent in Canadian cities, businesses, governments, and researchers must work together to facilitate safe, efficient, and low-carbon goods movement. Collectively, we need to:

#### 1. Strengthen a national dialogue on low-carbon urban freight

While the impacts from increased urban freight may be most felt at the city level, in the air we breathe and congestion we endure, the issue is national in scope. An ad hoc city-by-city approach means that municipal bureaucrats and politicians are reinventing the wheel all across Canada. It's time to have a national conversation about investing in strategic, low-carbon infrastructure and creating policy and regulatory conditions that helps cities across Canada to adapt, innovate, and manage growing urban freight demands.

#### 2. Work across sectors to solve urban freight challenges.

Urban freight challenges cannot be solved by a single sector. It requires a cross sectoral approach — government, business, planning and policy practitioners and civil society — and a balanced approach to achieving multiple public policy objectives: a safe, efficient, competitive, and a low-carbon transportation and goods movement system that helps Canada meet its goal to decarbonize its economy by 2050.

By coming together and sharing learnings, government can move forward faster on solving the complexities with urban freight, saving sought-after resources at the same time. Each level of government, with their varying planning authorities, plays an important role in encouraging efforts, establishing the right policy and planning conditions, and investing in low-carbon infrastructure across Canada. Businesses, too, benefit from a national approach to goods movement. Like any other clean economy policy, businesses need clear, consistent and reliable policies and regulations in order to test and viably scale up alternative delivery modes, operating models and technologies across the country.

### 3. Integrate goods movement strategies with existing climate and energy, land use, road safety, and transportation strategies.

The movement of goods and people is both impacted by and affects a number of other policy issue areas. For transformational change, there must be strong coordination across disciplines — climate, energy, land use, infrastructure, and transportation. We must ensure policies that shape our social and economic conditions, built form and environment are supportive of one another.

#### 4. Improve municipal-level freight data monitoring and reporting.

The measurement, monitoring and reporting on how goods move in and around our cities must continue to be funded and prioritized. Providing coherent and standardized data on the goods movement sector would better inform how we plan for our cities in the near and long term.

#### Endnotes

- 1 Government of Canada, *Canada's Fourth Biennial Report on Climate Change* (2019), Annex 2. https://unfccc.int/sites/default/ files/resource/Canada%E2%80%99s%20Fourth%20Biennial%20 Report%20on%20Climate%20Change%202019.pdf
- 2 Monique Stinson, Annesha Enam & Amy Moore, "Citywise Impacts of E-Commerce: Does Parcel Delivery Travel Outweigh Household Shopping Travel Reductions?," *Smart Cities*, (September 2019), 1.
- 3 Andy Murdock, "The Environmental Cost of Free 2-Day Shipping," Vox (2017). https:// www.vox.com/2017/11/17/16670080/ environmental-cost-free-two-day-shipping
- 4 Dimitri Weideli, Edgar E. Blanco, Naoufel Cheikhrouhou and Anthony Craig, *Environmental Analysis of US Online Shopping* (2013), 4-5. http://ctl.mit.edu/sites/ctl.mit.edu/files/library/ public/Dimitri-Weideli-Environmental-Analysis-of-US-Online-Shopping\_0.pdf
- 5 Environment and Climate Change Canada, 2019 National Inventory Report 1990–2017: Greenhouse Gas Sources and Sinks in Canada, Part 3, Table A10-2. https://unfccc.int/ documents/194925
- Natural Resources Canada, "Table 8: GHG Emissions by Transportation Mode," *Comprehensive Energy Use Database*. http://oee.nrcan.gc.ca/corporate/statistics/neud/dpa/showTable. cfm?type=CP&sector=tran&juris=ca&rn=8&page=0
- 7 The Amazon Blog: Day One, "Press Release: Amazon Co-Founds the Climate Pledge, Setting Goal to Meet the Paris Agreement 10 Years Early," September 19, 2019. https:// press.aboutamazon.com/news-releases/news-release-details/ amazon-co-founds-climate-pledge-setting-goal-meet-paris
- 8 Josh Silverman, "Etsy Becomes the First Global eCommerce Company to Completely Offset Carbon Emissions from Shipping," February 26, 2019, *Etsy News*. https://blog.etsy.com/ news/2019/on-etsy-every-purchase-makes-a-positive-impact/
- 9 Simran Jagdev, "Purolator to Spend \$759 Million for Faster Deliveries", June 25, 2019, *Bloomberg*. https:// www.bloomberg.com/news/articles/2019-06-25/ purolator-to-spend-759-million-for-faster-deliveries-in-canada
- 10 Incoming freight carried by for-hire trucks as measured by weight. Urban areas include Toronto, Vancouver, Montreal, Calgary, Edmonton and Halifax. Statistics Canada, "Canadian Freight Analysis Framework," spreadsheet, January 2020. https://www150.statcan.gc.ca/n1/pub/50-503-x/2018001/ xlsx/50-503-x\_2016-xlsx-eng.zip
- 11 Mireia Roca-Riu, Miquel Estrada, "An evaluation of urban consolidation centres through logistics systems analysis in circumstances where companies have equal market shares," *Procedia Social and Behavioural Sciences* 39 (2012), 796.
- 12 Ibid, 797.
- 13 TransLink, *Moving the Economy* (2017), 24-33. translink.ca/-/ media/Documents/plans\_and\_projects/roads\_bridges/RGMS\_ Moving\_the\_Economy.pdf?la=en&hash=73930C139F490F237975 332CB1B52659B1C997E6
- 14 City of Calgary, Goods Movement Strategy (2018), 29-30. https://

www.calgary.ca/Transportation/TP/Documents/strategy/ Goods%20Movement%20Stategy%20Documents/Goods-Movement-Strategy-Report.pdf

- 15 Canada Post, *The 2019 Canadian E-Commerce Benchmark Report* (2019), 4. https://www.canadapost.ca/assets/pdf/2019\_ecomm\_ benchmark\_report-en.pdf
- 16 City of Edmonton, *Draft Edmonton City Plan*, https://www. edmonton.ca/city\_government/documents/Draft\_City\_Plan\_ FINAL.pdf
- 17 City of Toronto, Curbside Management Strategy: Improving How Curbside Space Is Used (2017). https://www.toronto.ca/legdocs/ mmis/2017/pw/bgrd/backgroundfile-109153.pdf
- 18 City of Toronto, Vision Zero 2017-2021: Toronto's Road Safety Plan. https://www.toronto.ca/wp-content/uploads/2017/11/990f-2017-Vision-Zero-Road-Safety-Plan\_June1.pdf
- 19 City of Toronto, "TransformTO." https://www. toronto.ca/services-payments/water-environment/ environmentally-friendly-city-initiatives/transformto/
- 20 Katelyn Thomas, "Ville-Marie pilot project to use electric cargo bikes for deliveries," *Montreal Gazette*, August 8, 2019. https:// montrealgazette.com/news/local-news/ville-marie-pilotproject-to-use-electric-cargo-bikes-for-deliveries
- 21 Halifax Regional Municipality, *Integrated Mobility Plan* (2017), 119-120. https://www.halifax.ca/sites/default/files/ documents/about-the-city/regional-community-planning/ IMP\_report\_171220-WEB.pdf
- 22 Incoming freight carried by for-hire trucks as measured by weight. Urban areas include Toronto, Vancouver, Montreal, Calgary, Edmonton and Halifax. "Canadian Freight Analysis Framework"
- Statistics Canada, "Table 17-10-0135-01 Population estimates, July 1, by census metropolitan area and census aggolomeration, 2016 boundaries," spreadsheet, February 2020. https://doi. org/10.25318/1710013501-eng
- 24 Statistics Canada, "Canadian Freight Analysis Framework," spreadsheet, January 2020. https://www150.statcan.gc.ca/n1/ pub/50-503-x/2018001/xlsx/50-503-x\_2016-xlsx-eng.zip
- 25 TransLink, Moving the Economy, 24-33.
- 26 Metro Vancouver, *Progress Toward Shaping Our Future* (2015), 27. http://www.metrovancouver.org/services/regional-planning/ PlanningPublications/MV\_2040\_Progress\_toward\_Shaping\_our\_ Future\_2015\_Annual\_Report.pdf
- 27 Population was 2,494,000 in 2015 as noted above. Metro Vancouver, *Climate 2050: Transportation* (2018). http://www.metrovancouver.org/services/air-quality/ AirQualityPublications/C2050-IssueAreaSummary-Transportation.pdf
- 28 Statistics Canada, "Table 17-10-0135-01 Population estimates, July 1, by census metropolitan area and census aggolomeration, 2016 boundaries."
- 29 Statistics Canada, "Canadian Freight Analysis Framework."
- 30 City of Calgary, Goods Movement Strategy, 29-30.
- 31 City of Calgary, Calgary and Region Economic Outlook 2019-2024 (2019), 30, 31. https://www.calgary.ca/cfod/finance/Documents/ Corporate-Economics/Calgary-and-Region-Economic-Outlook/

<sup>21</sup> The next frontier for climate action: Urban freight in Canada

Calgary-and-Region-Economic-Outlook-2019-Fall.pdf

- 32 Ibid., 29.
- Open Calgary, "Community-wide Greenhouse Gas (GHG) Inventory." https://data.calgary.ca/Environment/ Community-wide-Greenhouse-Gas-GHG-Inventory/m7gu-3xk5
- Based on a population of 1,246,337 in 2017. City of Calgary,
   "Calgary's Population, 1958-2019." https://data.calgary.ca/
   Demographics/Calgary-s-Population-1958-2019/as3q-cmd5
- 35 Statistics Canada, "Table 17-10-0135-01 Population estimates, July 1, by census metropolitan area and census aggolomeration, 2016 boundaries."
- 36 Statistics Canada, "Canadian Freight Analysis Framework."
- 37 City of Edmonton, Draft Edmonton City Plan, https://www. edmonton.ca/city\_government/documents/Draft\_City\_Plan\_ FINAL.pdf
- 38 Edmonton Metropolitan Region Board, Edmonton Metropolitan Region Growth Plan: Schedules and Tables (2017), 2. http://emrb. ca/Website/media/PDF/Toolkit%20page%20components/ refn-Growth-Plan-Interactive-Schedules-and-Tables-Growth-Plan%7B2%7DGrowth-Plan-Update%7B2%7D-(ID-65047).pdf
- 39 Edmonton Citizen Dashboard, "Measuring Community GHG Emissions." https://dashboard.edmonton.ca/stat/goals/ yujd-4pdd/etge-hz36/kmuu-rpk6
- 40 Population was estimated at 935,835 in 2018 (averaged from 2016 and 2019 population). City of Edmonton, "Population History." https://www.edmonton.ca/city\_government/facts\_figures/ population-history.aspx
- 41 Statistics Canada, "Table 17-10-0135-01 Population estimates, July 1, by census metropolitan area and census aggolomeration, 2016 boundaries."
- 42 Statistics Canada, "Canadian Freight Analysis Framework."p
- 43 City of Toronto, Curbside Management Strategy.
- 44 City of Toronto, Vision Zero 2017-2021.
- 45 City of Toronto, "TransformTO."
- 46 City of Hamilton, *Transportation Master Plan: Review and Update* (2018), 120, 124. https://www.hamilton.ca/sites/default/files/media/browser/2018-10-24/tmp-review-update-final-report-oct2018.pdf
- 47 Metrolinx, 2041 Regional Transportation Plan (2018), ix. http:// www.metrolinx.com/en/regionalplanning/rtp/Metrolinx%20 -%202041%20Regional%20Transportation%20Plan%20 %E2%80%93%20Final.pdf
- 48 Population was 7,089,441 in 2017. The Atmospheric Fund, Carbon Emissions Inventory for the GTHA: 2019 Edition: Three Years of Data and Regional Profiles (2019), 3, 36. https://taf. ca/wp-content/uploads/2019/12/GTHA-carbon-emissionsinventory-2019.pdf
- 49 City of Ottawa, Transportation Master Plan (2013), 80. https:// documents.ottawa.ca/sites/documents/files/documents/ tmp\_en.pdf
- 50 City of Ottawa, Goods Movement Backgrounder (2019), vi. http:// ontruck.org/wp-content/uploads/2019/05/Ottawa-Goods-Movement-Backgrounder\_public.pdf

- 51 City of Ottawa, Growth Projections for Ottawa: Projects for Population, Housing, Employment and Land, 2014-2036 (2016), 9, 29. http://ottwatch.ca/meetings/file/412569
- 52 City of Ottawa, Memo: 2012 and 2016 Greenhouse Gas Emission Inventories (2018), 7. http://ottwatch.ca/meetings/file/554144
- 53 Based on a population of 934,243 in 2016. City of Ottawa, "2016 Census." https://ottawa.ca/en/city-hall/get-know-your-city/ statistics-and-economic-profile/statistics/2016-census
- 54 Statistics Canada, "Table 17-10-0135-01 Population estimates, July 1, by census metropolitan area and census aggolomeration, 2016 boundaries."
- 55 Statistics Canada, "Canadian Freight Analysis Framework."p
- 56 "Ville-Marie pilot project to use electric cargo bikes for deliveries."
- 57 Institut de la Statistique du Quebec, *Le Bilan Demographique du Quebec* (2016), 126. http://www.stat.gouv.qc.ca/statistiques/population-demographie/bilan2016.pdf
- 58 Statistics Canada, "Table 14-10-0295-01: Labour Force Characteristics by Montreal, Toronto and Vancouver Census Metropolitan Areas, Seasonally Adjusted and Unadjusted, Last 5 months" https://www150.statcan.gc.ca/t1/tbl1/en/cv.action?pid= 1410029501#timeframe
- 59 Statistics Canada, "The Labour Force in Canada and Its Regions: Projections to 2036," 2019. https://www150.statcan.gc.ca/n1/ pub/75-006-x/2019001/article/00004-eng.htm
- 60 Population was 1,999,800 in 2015 as noted above. Ville de Montreal, Emissions de gaz a effet de serre de la collectivite montrealaise: Inventaire 2015 (2019), 3, 7. http://ville. montreal.qc.ca/pls/portal/docs/PAGE/ENVIRO\_FR/MEDIA/ DOCUMENTS/INVENTAIRECOLLECTIVITEGES\_2015.PDF
- 61 Statistics Canada, "Table 17-10-0135-01 Population estimates, July 1, by census metropolitan area and census aggolomeration, 2016 boundaries."
- 62 Statistics Canada, "Canadian Freight Analysis Framework."p
- 63 Halifax Regional Municipality, *Integrated Mobility Plan* (2017), 119-120. https://www.halifax.ca/sites/default/files/ documents/about-the-city/regional-community-planning/ IMP\_report\_171220-WEB.pdf
- 64 Halifax Regional Municipality, *Regional Municipal Planning Strategy* (2014), 12. https://www.halifax.ca/sites/default/files/ documents/about-the-city/regional-community-planning/Regio nalMunicipalPlanningStrategy-19Nov30-RegionalCentrePlan-PackageA-TOCLinked 0.pdf
- 65 TomTom International BV, "Traffic Index 2018: Filter By: North America." https://www.tomtom.com/en\_gb/traffic-index/ ranking/?country=CA,MX,US
- 66 Transport Canada (Environmental Affairs), *The Cost of Urban Congestion in Canada* (2006, revised July 2007), 16. https://pdfs.semanticscholar.org/ae2c/c8a3231b62525af11e01f2d7e2a4a7 c13a80.pdf
- 67 Vijay Gill and John Lawson, Congestion Costs and Road Capacity: Implications for Policy-Makers (Conference Board of Canada, 2016), 8-9. https://www.conferenceboard.ca/e-library/abstract. aspx?did=8183
- 68 Metrolinx, Costs of Road Congestion in the Greater Toronto and

Hamilton Area; Impact and Cost-Benefit Analysis of the Metrolinx Draft Regional Transportation Plan (2008), A3-13. http://www. metrolinx.com/en/regionalplanning/costsofcongestion/ISP\_08-015\_Cost\_of\_Congestion\_report\_1128081.pdf

- 69 World Economic Forum, The Future of the Last-Mile Ecosystem (2020), 11. http://www3.weforum.org/docs/WEF\_Future\_of\_the\_ last\_mile\_ecosystem.pdf
- 70 City of Toronto, *Curbside Management Strategy*, 1.
- 71 Donald C. Shoup, "Cruising for parking, " *Transport Policy* 13 (2006), 479.
- 72 Bette-Anne Schuelke-Leech, *An Investigation of Municipal Truck Size and Safety Guards on Vulnerable Road Users* (2019), 7-9. https://www.toronto.ca/wp-content/uploads/2019/06/87df-TS\_ VZ\_Schuelke-Leech\_2019\_Municipal\_Truck-Safety....pdf
- 73 Andrea Bellemare, "Trucks Caused 20% of Cyclist Deaths in Montreal Since 2005," CBC News, August 13, 2017. https://www.cbc.ca/news/canada/montreal/ trucks-cycling-deaths-montreal-coroners-reports-1.4245120
- 74 City of Vancouver, Moving to Vision Zero: Road Safety Strategy Update and Showcase of Innovation in British Columbia (2016), 52. https://www2.gov.bc.ca/assets/gov/driving-and-transportation/ driving/publications/road-safety-strategy-update-vision-zero. pdf
- 75 Deloitte, The Future of Freight: How New Technology and New Thinking Can Transform How Goods Are Moved (2017), 6. https:// www2.deloitte.com/us/en/insights/focus/future-of-mobility/ future-of-freight-simplifying-last-mile-logistics.html
- 76 "Prime Free One Day," *The Amazon Blog* (2019). https://blog. aboutamazon.com/amazon-prime/prime-free-one-day
- 77 Marc Lore, "Free NextDay Delivery Without a Membership Fee," Walmart (2019). https:// corporate.walmart.com/newsroom/2019/05/14/ free-nextday-delivery-without-a-membership-fee
- 78 Amazon, "About Shipping Preferences." https://www.amazon. ca/gp/help/customer/display.html?nodeId=201910450
- 79 Environment Canada "Air pollutants Criteria Air Contaminants," 2017. https://www.ec.gc.ca/air/default. asp?lang=En&n=7C43740B-1
- 80 Southern Ontario Centre for Atmospheric Aerosol Research, Near-Road Air Pollution Pilot Study (2019). https://www.socaar. utoronto.ca/wp-content/uploads/2019/10/SOCAAR-Near-Road-Air-Pollution-Pilot-Study-Summary-Report-Fall-2019-web-Final.pdf
- 81 Bill Howard, "Amazon Buys 100,000 Electric Trucks from Rivian (Total EV SUVs, Pickups Built to Date: 0)," *Extreme Tech*, September 20, 2019. https://www.extremetech.com/ extreme/298729-amazon-buys-100000-electric-trucks-fromrivian-total-ev-suvs-pickups-built-to-date-0
- 82 Joann Muller, "UPS to buy 10,000 electric trucks from U.K. startup Arrival," Axios, January 29, 2020. https://www.axios. com/ups-buy-10000-electric-trucks-uk-startup-arrival-5f69b133-dbb3-4109-aeae-59d9f1c749b0.html
- 83 Alison Conway, Pierre-Emmanuel Fatisson, Penny Eickemeyer, Jialei Cheng and Diniece Peters, "Urban micro-consolidation and last mile goods delivery by freight-tricycle in Manhattan:

Opportunities and challenges," in *Proceedings of the* 91<sup>st</sup> *Transportation Research Board Annual Meeting, Washington, DC, USA, 22-25 January 2012,* 9-10.

- 84 City of London, "Ultra Low Emission Zone (ULEZ)," 2019. https://www.cityoflondon.gov.uk/business/environmentalhealth/environmental-protection/air-quality/Pages/ultra-lowemission-zone.aspx
- 85 Sam Clarke and Jacques Leonardi, *Final Report: Multicarrier consolidation Central London trial* (Greater London Authority, 2017), 49. https://www.london.gov.uk/sites/default/files/gla-agile1-finalreport-02.05.17.pdf
- 86 Jean-Philippe Aurambout, Konstantinos Gkoumas, and Biagio Ciuffo, "Last mile delivery by drones: an estimation of viable market potential and access to citizens across European cities," European Transport Research Review 11 (2019), 1.
- 87 Kianoush Mousavi\_and\_Matthew\_Roorda, "Off-Peak Delivery Pilot in Region of Peel," *Smart Freight Centre*. http:// smartfreightcentre.ca/wp-content/uploads/2019/11/3.5\_ MattRoorda-UofT OffPeakDeliveryPilot.pdf
- 88 Urban Freight Lab, University of Washington, The Final 50 Feet Urban Goods Delivery System: Common Carrier Locker Pilot Test at the Seattle Municipal Tower (October 2018), 4. http://depts.washington.edu/sctlctr/sites/default/files/ SCTL\_Muni\_Tower\_Test\_Report\_V4.pdf
- 89 Milena Janjevic and Alassane Balle Ndiaye, "Development and Application of a Transferability Framework for Microconsolidation Schemes in Urban Freight Transport," *Procedia – Social and Behavioral Sciences* 125 (2014), 285.
- 90 Susanne Balm, Amsterdam University of Applied Sciences, personal communication, April 2, 2019.
- 91 Janjevic et al., "Development and Application of a Transferability Framework for Micro-consolidation Schemes in Urban Freight Transport,", 285.
- Bram Kin, Sara Verlinde, Tom van Lier and Cathy Macharis,
  "Is there life after subsidy for an urban consolidation centre? An investigation of the total costs and benefits of a privatelyinitiated concept," *Transportation Research Procedia* 12 (2016), 358.
- Julian Allen, Michael Browne, Allan Woodburn and Jacques Leonardi, "The Role of Urban Consolidation Centres in Sustainable Freight Transport," *Transport Reviews* 32 (2012), 480.
- 94 Geotab, "Fleet Fuel Management." https://www.geotab.com/ fleet-management-solutions/fleet-fuel-management/
- 95 Geotab, "Electric Vehicle Suitability Assessment (EVSA)." https://www.geotab.com/fleet-management-solutions/evsa/
- 96 Fleet Optics, "Fleet Optics." https://www.fleetopticsinc.com/
- 97 Uber Freight, "Uber Freight." https://www.uberfreight.com/
- 98 Transport Canada, Transportation in Canada 2018: Overview Report, 7. https://www.tc.gc.ca/documents/Transportation\_in\_ Canada\_2018.pdf
- 99 Southern Ontario Centre for Atmospheric Aerosol Research, Near-Road Air Pollution Pilot Study (2019), 2. https://tspace. library.utoronto.ca/bitstream/1807/96917/4/Near%20Road%20 Study%20Report.pdf